
1-13-C019 Questions and Answers 
Comprehensive Custodial Services at Ronald Reagan Washington National Airports 

January 2, 2013 
 

 Question Answer 
1. What is the current contract price? 

 
$22,010,698.10 for 5 years. 

2. Who is the current contractor? Motir Services, Inc. 

3. RFP, Section V, paragraph 20 states, a performance bond in 
an amount equal to 100% of the proposed contract price….. 

See Amendment Two, correcting the bond amount to $1,000,000 
per year. 

4. Company representatives visited both airports under the 
Authority's responsibility (Dulles and Ronald Reagan) today 
and noticed an obvious difference in the cleanliness of each 
facility. The Dulles facility is by far cleaner than the Ronald 
Reagan Airport facility. This in our opinion and past 
performance experience a direct result of the quality  
assurance and control plans administered at each facility. 
 
With this obvious difference in the cleanliness of each facility it 
begs the question "Why is the Quality Control process the 4th 
criterion and by definition weighted lesser than price, past 
performance and project understanding? Is it the Authority's 
objective to have the cleanest Airport facility or to have a 
cleaning service provided at a low price? 

The evaluation criteria in this RFP will allow Ronald Reagan 
Washington National Airport to determine the best proposal.  In 
addition, Criterion 2 also addresses quality.  Therefore, since the 
criteria are listed in descending order of importance, quality is 
important.  All criteria, regardless of weighting, can be the 
determing factor in selecting the best proposal.  

5. Attachment 02 entitled "Evaluation Criteria - Page 1 
 
What scoring mechanism will be used to evaluate each 
criterion? 
 

As stated in RFP, Section X – Attachment 02 – Evaluation Criteria 
and Proposal Submission Requirements, 01 Evaluation Criteria, 
paragraph A, The criteria are listed in descending order of 
importance with the first having the most weight and with each of 
the following criteria having equal or lesser weight than the one 
preceding it. 

6. Please provide Bid tabulation to help us grab a more accurate 
understanding.  

See the answer to question 1. 

7. We have more q's, please call us. Questions must be submitted in writing. 

8. How many employees are currently working the contract? The Offeror, as part of the Evaluation Criteria, must determine on 
its own the staffing levels required to perform the tasks & 
frequencies defined in the RFP 
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9. I have attended site-visit yesterday. It was very brief and wasn't 

able to see all 3 terminals. Will you please allow us to see all 3 
terminals after the pre-bid conference? 

The piers (terminals) are basically identical with few exceptions.  
The drawings provided in Section X – Attachment One – 
Statement of Work, Appendix A provides detailed information for 
each area covered by the SOW. Potential Offerors can tour all non 
secured areas of all three terminals A/B/C as stated in the secured 
walk through site visits and the pre-proposal conference. 

10. Could you please provide the supply usage report? Estimated passenger count for 2011 was 18.8 million.  
11. What time frame has the highest traffic in the airport, in other 

words, when is the peak-time? 
See the answer to question 10. 

12. In Frequency schedule, if it states 8S, then that means 8 times 
per shift, correct? 

Refer to the “Frequency Key” on appendices  

13. Could you please provide more detail information on Barcode 
Inspection Software and Hardware? 

Refer to Section IX-Documentation and Reporting. 

14. Could you please provide the incumbent contractor and their 
total contract amount in dollar? 

See the answer to questions 1 and 2. 

15. What are the reason(s) to put out to bid after the base year? 
 

The current contract is in its second option year.  The SOW 
requirements increased significantly requiring the resolicitation 
rather than exercising the final option year. 

16. In reference to page XII-1, last sentence of paragraph  
1 in the SOW, on a scale of 1-10, how does the Airport 
Authority rate the current contractor’s level of performance? 
 

Contractor performance evaluations are available for lawful use by 
the Airports Authority. 

17. In what manner and by whom are the proposals going to be 
evaluated? 

Proposals are independently scored by members who are 
unbiased and capable of objectively assessing the merits of the 
proposals.  All voting members have one vote. 

18. Who are the members of the source selection evaluation 
board? 

The names of the evaluation committee members are not public 
information. 

19. Is there a source selection evaluation board? 
 

There is an evaluation committee as described in the answer to 
question 17.  

20. During the walk through, we noticed that a few of the bar code 
stickers were in bad condition. Will the awarded contractor be 
responsible for replacing and installing new bar code stickers? 

See the answer to question 13. 

21. Is the awarded contractor required to buy supplies and 
equipment from a specific vendor? 

Refer to Appendix F – Materials and Supplies 
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22. In reference to page III-1 in the SOW (definitions) under the 

"clean" definition, it states that the cleanliness Quality, Shall 
mean a like new appearance. In view of our latest walk 
through, please explain in specificity what that means. Are 
there in provisions in place to base line the existing facilities? 
 

Please read Section III, Definition of “Clean” in its entirety.  
Refer to Section VII, General Requirements 

23. What is the projected volume of waste over the initial 2 year 
base contract period?  
 

See the answer to question 10. 

24. What is the projected occurrence of encountering Blood-
Bourne Pathogens over the 2 year base contract period? 

See the answer to question 10. 

25. What specific areas should be addressed with Digital images 
specified in the COTR daily reports? 

Refer to Section IX Documentation and Reporting, line item 03 
Contractor’s Daily Report. 

26. In reference to Sow- page X-2 Item 04 dedicated pier restroom 
and passenger hold room custodians terminal What is the 
difference between continuous and adequate cleaning? 

Refer to Appendix B5 Housekeeping Task and Frequency Chart-
Restrooms, Amendment One-Revised 12/06/2012. 

27. When can we expect the contract award? The anticipated contract term, as mentioned in the RFP, begins 
July 1, 2013.  The Airports Authority makes every effort to allow 60 
days between the award date and the start date. 

28. Attachment 02 entitled "Evaluation Criteria - Page 1 
What scoring mechanism will be used to evaluate each 
criterion? 

See the answer to question 17.   

29. How often will the living wage increase? It increases at some 
point, would that be affect to the total dollar amount of the 
contract? 

The Living Wage rate identified in the RFP Section X – Attachment 
04 will remain throughout the term of the contract. 

30.  In amendment 1, we received a new Restroom chart; do we 
provide one dedicated employee for each restroom? Are can 
they police several continuously? 
 

Refer to Section X-Personnel, line item 04- Dedicated Pier 
Restroom and Passenger Holdroom Custodians Terminals A/B/C 
 

31. Could you provide a list of all Restrooms I realize they are 
shown on drawings but a list would be nice. 

Please refer to Appendix 2- Space Drawings. 

32. The minimum wage is shown however no benefits are 
included? 

The Living Wage information is provided in the RFP Section X – 
Attachment 04.  Only paragraph B of the provision addresses 
benefits. 
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33. Could you provide the number of total full time employees now 

working?  Are all Employees full time? 
See the answer to question 8. 

34. Attachment 02, Evaluation Criteria and Proposal Submission 
Requirements, Section 02, Proposal Submission 
Requirements, states that for the Technical Proposal (Envelope 
3), Do not exceed fifty (50), double-spaced, single sided pages. 
Exhibits and samples of previous work are not included in the 
50-page limit. Is the cover/title sheet excluded from the double-
spacing requirement and the 50-page limit? 

 

Please see Amendment One, issued December 6, 2012 which 
increases the number of pages from 50 to 75.  The Cover/Title 
page does not need to be double spaced. 

35. Are graphics (such as organization charts, example forms, etc.) 
excluded from the double-spacing requirement? 

The RFP is silent on the double-spacing requirement for 
organization charts, example forms, etc.  

36. Is Appendix J Reference Form required for Section 1, Past 
Performance) excluded from the double-spacing requirement? 
Is it excluded from the 50-page limit? 

Appendix J is an Excel format that is not double spaced, and 
would be considered an exhibit. 

37. The Appendix J Excel file has two tabs- (Comparable Contract) 
and Past (Previous Contract. Please clarify how the offeror 
should apply these forms. For example, would the Comp Cont 
be used for references that are currently on-going, and the 
Past be used for a contract reference that has been 
completed? 

 

Yes. 

38. Are the latest financial statements and evidence of ability to 
obtain a bond required under Section 2, Project Understanding 
excluded from the double-spacing requirement? Are they 
excluded from the 50-page limit? 
 

Yes. Yes. 

39. If in a teaming agreement, Should both companies include their 
financial statements? If so, shall 2011 and later be sufficient? 
 

Yes. 
 
If a firm’s fiscal year extends beyond December 31, 2012, 2011 
and earlier financials would be acceptable. 
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40. Is Appendix H, Staffing Plan (required under Section 2, Project 

Understanding) excluded from the double-spacing 
requirement? Is it excluded from the 50-page limit? 

See answer to question 36. 

41. Is Appendix I, Equipment Plan (required under Section 2, 
Project Understanding) excluded from the double-spacing 
requirement? Is it excluded from the 50-page limit? 

See answer to question 36. 

42. Is there a CBA? Offerors must contact the Union directly for a copy of the 
agreement.  The Airports Authority does not involve itself in union 
matters, and union involvement is at the discretion of the offeror. 

43. What is the wage on the current contract? The Living Wage for the current contract is $12.80. 
44. Is the square footage the same as current contract? Refer to Section II-Introduction and Summary of Work, line item 

02-Summary of Work. 
45. Section 2, Project Understanding states that the Offeror should 

specify age, brands and model numbers for all equipment, 
supplies, and materials. Appendix I is labeled Equipment. 
Should supplies and materials also be listed in Appendix I? 
Please clarify. 
 

Refer to Section XIII-Contractor Furnished Resources. 
Refer to Appendix F-Materials and Supplies. 

46. Section 2, Project Understanding states that the Offeror should 
provide individual and grand total prices or value for the 
equipment, supplies and materials to be provided. Appendix I 
includes a Quantity column and an Estimated Value column, 
but does not include columns for individual and extended 
prices by item. Please clarify. 

Refer to Section XII-Deliverables  

47. On page 86 of 89 of the RFP, below Section 4, Management 
Plan, is the statement Do not include any Price Proposal 
information in any of the technical proposal sections. However, 
Section 2, Project Understanding requests financial 
statements, proof of bonding capacity, and individual and 
extended costs of equipment, supplies, and materials. Please 
clarify. 
 

The financials required in the evaluation criteria do not include 
pricing from RFP Section III – Price Schedule so they are allowed. 
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48. In the SOW, Section XIV Authority Furnished Resources, 03 

On-Site Office Computer, states the Authority will provide use 
of an Authority owned computer. Will the Authority provide 
training to designated contractor personnel in the use of the 
system? Please clarify. 

Yes, training will be provided for accessing the Authority’s Work 
Order System and Local Area Network programs for the sole 
purpose of fulfilling the requirements of the contract. 
 

49. Does VA SWAM and or SBA 8a satisfy the LDBE requirement? 
Contractor is currently in process of obtaining LDBE 
Certification. 

No, firms must be LDBE certified by the Metropolitan Washington 
Airports Authority. 

50. At the baggage processing center, is the power washing and 
high dusting done per request or is there a schedule? 

Refer to Appendix B4 Housekeeping Task and Frequencies  

51. Do all PLBs passenger loading bridges have power outlets? Refer to Section XIV, Authority Furnished Resources, line item 01-
General, item “G”. 

52. What is the number of PLBs on site? See the answer to question 44. 
53. Is there a requirement to remove the vent covers when dusting 

or do they stay in place?  If so, who extends the PLBs? 
Refer to Appendix C-Performance Standards. 

54. Tenant spaces/furniture is not included in the scope of work. 
Are the food court tables at each concourse considered part of 
the tenant? Are they part of the scope of work? 

Refer to Section IV-Base Services, line item 04-Excluded Services.

55. Are tenant Display Lighting Signs outside of building included 
in SOW? 

Yes. 

56. There are several recycle cans around the airport. Is recycling 
part of this contract? Where are the locations? 

See the answer to question 53. 

57. Is there any space under construction that will later be added to 
the scope of work? Renovations or Additional spaces? 

Refer to Price Schedule 

58. Could you provide a breakdown of which gate goes to which 
terminal? 

Refer to Appendix A1-Site Plan 

59. The scope of work states you will provide sky lifts for this 
project. Who provides the training to use this equipment? Is 
there license/certificate required for use? 

Refer to Section XIV-Authority Furnished Resources, line item 01-
General, item “E”. 
 

60. Is pallet collection included in the scope of work? Refer to Section VII-General Requirements, line item 15 
“Contractor Recycling” 

61. Does the MWAA have a formal inspection program for this 
project? 

Refer to Section IX-Documentation and Reporting. 
Refer to Section VII-General Requirements. 
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62. It was noted that the guard booth at gate A is part of the scope 

of work. How many are there? Are they all part of the scope of 
work? 

See the answer to question 31. 

63. Is pressure washing in the vehicle area at all levels of the 
parking garages included in the scope of work?  If so, can 
MWAA block part of the garage? 

See Appendix C-Performance Standards. 

67. Reference Page 36- H. The contractor shall provide and utilize 
equipment from the following list of manufacturers to 
accomplish the floor care maintenance requirements of this 
SOW: Tenant, Kent and Advance. Question: Are equivalent 
equipment manufacturers allowed? (i.e. Windsor, Viper and 
Pro-team)  
 

See Section XIII-Contractors Furnished Resources. 

68. Reference Page 80 # 15. Strip the floor with Diversey Pro Strip 
Floor Stripper as per manufactures directions. 2. Rinse the 
stripper with water and Diversey Easy Paks Neutralizer as per 
manufactures directions 3. Apply seven (7) coats of Diversey 
High Mileage Floor Finish. Question: Are equivalent chemical 
manufacturers allowed in the floor stripping, neutralizing and 
finishing process? (Spartan) 
 

Refer to Appendix F-Materials and Supplies. 

69. The RFP states there is a 50 page limit for the technical 
proposal. The presentation from the pre-proposal conference 
states there is a 75-page limit. Please clarify. 
 

Please see Amendment One, issued December 6, 2012 which 
increases the number of pages from 50 to 75.   

70. The RFP requests an original and four copies of the technical 
proposal. The presentation from the pre-proposal conference 
requests an original and five copies. Please clarify. 

Please see Amendment One, issued December 6, 2012 which 
requires an original and 5 copies of the technical proposal. 

71. The presentation from the pre-proposal conference references 
key personnel specified in the contractor's proposal in 
reference to RFP Section VII. The evaluation criteria and 
instructions for the technical proposal do not specify inclusion 
of key personnel resumes under any of the technical evaluation 
criteria. Please clarify. 
 

Please read the RFP Section VII – Contract Provisions, 17 Key 
Personnel. 
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72. The RFP states that exhibits and examples of previous work 

are excluded, but does not mention resumes; however, the 
presentation from the pre-proposal conference lists that 
resumes are excluded from the page limits. Please clarify. 
 

Resumes are exempt. 

73. On January 1, 2014 the Patient and Affordable Care Act 
requires that all employees working more than thirty (30) hours 
per week be provided a health insurance plan. Each employer 
has the choice of enrolling the employee in a standard HMO or 
equivalent or electing to not provide health insurance and pay 
an IRS penalty of $2,000 per employee. Current HMO premium 
costs for a single individual are more expensive.  
Does MWAA have a position as to whether contractors are 
required to include in their pricing a standard HMO premium? 
Is the alternate, non-conforming approach, i.e. IRS penalty, 
approved by MWAA? 
 

Contractor compliance with all applicable laws are required by the 
RFP. 

74. Your SOW lists 500 bar codes throughout the terminal. Are 
those bar codes serviceable? Will a contractor be required to 
replace those bar codes? Does MWAA have a listing of the 
locations of each bar code? 

Refer to Section IX-Documentation and Reporting. 
 

75. Is there WiFi available for janitors use? Is wifi only in select 
locations or is it available throughout the operational areas? 

Refer to Section XIII-Contractor Furnished Resources, line item 04.

76. It is required to have the proposal bind in the 3 rings binder or 
staple, can we use comb binding? 

The RFP calls for 3-ring binders or stapled. 

77. There is a limit of 75 pages for the Technical proposal. Do the 
Reference form, Staffing Plan form, and Equipment Plan form 
count against the 75 pages limit? 

No. 

78. Under the Technical Evaluation Criteria page 4 of the 
solicitation, the Airport requests to provide individual and grand 
total prices for the equipment and supplies. Should these price 
to be provided in the Technical or Price? 
 

In the Technical proposal. 

79. Current Contract monthly price? This information is considered proprietary in accordance the 
Airports Authority’s policies. 
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80. Provide the number of booths that need to be cleaned under 

the contract and their square footages. 
Please see the answer to question 31. 

81. Are the employees currently represented by a Union? And if so 
what is the name of the Union, and if so why is the Collecting 
Bargaining Agreement not part of the RFP? 
 

See the answer to question 42. 

82. Is there a subcontractor being used to provide the high 
cleaning requirements of the contract?  If so can the Authority 
please provide the name of the subcontractor?  
 

No 

83. Are there any subcontractors being used at the airport by the 
prime contractor? If so can the Authority please provide those 
names?  
 

The current contractor is self-performing. 

84. There are several unions in the area, would it be possible for 
MWAA provide the name of the National Airports local union? 
 

See the answer to question 42. 

85. Are the current employees provided health care coverage 
under the current contract? 

The current contractor is self-performing. 

86. On the walk off mats, are there any logos on the mats? Refer to Section VII-General Requirements, line item 19 

87.  Do you have the paper towels and toilet annual usage?  See the answer to question 10. 
88. Can the contractor install other approved dispensers in the 

bathrooms that will assist in paper towel usage? 
The contractor may make recommendations to the COTR for 
alternate paper dispensers; however, they may not install any 
dispensers without written approval from the Airports Authority’s. 

89. Is Johnson Diversity floor products the only products allow for 
maintaining the floors throughout the airport? Can we 
recommend another brand that we believe does a better job? 

See the answer to question 68. 
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90. In the RFP, it is stated that all equipment must be new, and 

proof of this must be supplied within days after the start of the 
contract? In order to be on the same playing field with each 
vendor, how will The Authority ensure this will be done by the 
successful contractor, and if it is not done, what actions will 
The Authority take to ensure this is done? 
 

The contractor would be in default of the contract.  Please see 
RFP Section VII – Contract Provision 20 Default. 

91. Is there any snow removal on the sidewalk by the contractors 
employees? 

Refer to Section VII-General Requirements, line item 19 

92. If our employees need parking space, are we allowed to be 
reimbursed by our employees at the cost of the parking fee? 

The RFP only addresses the cost of parking to the contractor for 
on-site employees. 

93. If a contractor is doing a joint venture deal, how is the 
performance bond handled, should it be in both contractors 
name or the lead contractor name? 

A Joint Venture by nature becomes an entity in and of itself; 
therefore the bond would be in the Joint Ventures name. 

94. With regard to "brand new" equipment, does that include the 
water damage/restoration equipment that may be needed for a 
water damage emergency (SOW page V-1 Supplemental 
Services 03 Flood Response). 

Refer to Section XII-Deliverables. 
Refer to Section XIII-Contractor Furnished Resources. 

95. With regard to the man lift operators, are there special licensing 
requirements? 

See the answer to question 59. 

96. Regarding feminine hygiene products: Are the products 
maintained in a coin-operated machine?  If so, is the contractor 
responsible for maintaining the machines to ensure they are 
operational? 

The products are dispensed free-of-charge in the Airports 
Authority’s Corporate Office Building. The contractor is not 
responsible for ensuring proper operation of the dispensers; 
however, the contractor is responsible for informing the COTR 
when a non-functioning or empty dispenser is identified. 

97. Does the contractor receive the revenue from those machines? See the answer to question 96. 
98. How many years has the current contract been in place? 

 
Four. 

99. Will the new vendor be expected to hire any of the current 
employees? 

The RFP does not have any requirements to hire current 
contractor employees. 



1-13-C019 Questions and Answers 
Comprehensive Custodial Services at Ronald Reagan Washington National Airports 

January 2, 2013 
 

 Question Answer 
100. How many supervisor positions exist under the current 

contract? 
See the answer to question 8. 

101. Does the Authority require pre-employment drug testing? Refer to Section VII-General Requirements, line item 13 “Security 
Requirements”. 

102. What is the time line for notification of contract award? See the answer to question 27. 
103. Are the shops in the airport included in this contract? Refer to Section IV-Base Services, line item 04-Excluded Services.
104. What Authority Property is issued to the contractor reference in 

Section VII-24 # 51? 
Refer to Section XIV-Authority Furnished Resources 

105. Do you have a list of preferred vendors for Security Clearance 
of our employees? 

Refer to Section VII-General Requirements, line item 13 “Security 
Requirements”. 

106. Is the JV agreement to be submitted with the bid on 1/30/13? If the offeror is a joint venture, the joint venture  should submit the 
Application for Joint Venture Eligibility (Exhibit G) as early as 
possible, either prior to the proposal submission deadline or 
promptly thereafter. Please mark the application as being for 
solicitation 1-13-C019 for DCA Custodial Services. 
 

107. Since locations that were made available during the site visit 3 
years ago were kept off limit by the COTR Ms. Clark last week, 
will additional dates be added to view such areas as the 
employee office area and supply storage facilities? 

No.  See the answer to question 9. 
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